1989

# Joseph Opheikens and Fanny Opheikens v. Arthur C. Sheron and Barbara O. Sheron : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction to hear the above entitled appeal is conferred upon the Supreme Court of Utah, pursuant to Rule 3(a) of the Rules of the Utah Supreme Court, and §78-2-2(3)(f) of the Utah Code Annotated 1988. This is an appeal from a final judgement of the Second Judicial District Court over which the Court of Appeals does not have original appellate jurisdiction.

## NATURE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

This appeal is from a final order of the Second Judicial District Court of Weber County, rendered by the Honorable David

E. Roth sitting without a jury. The trial court awarded the Plaintiffs a life estate in their home and granted the Defendants a remainder interest therein. Plaintiffs are appealing the judgement.

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

The Plaintiffs are appealing the judgement of the district court citing the following grounds for appeal:

1. That the trial court, after imposing a constructive trust, abused its discretion by awarding a remainder interest in the property to the Defendants.
2. That the trial court abused its discretion by awarding a remainder interest to the Defendants because the plaintiffs did not request that they be granted a remainder interest in their pleadings.
3. That the Defendants presented insufficient evidence at trial to justify the trial court's finding that they had equity in the property sufficient to purchase a remainder interest therein.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On December 7, 1967, Joseph Opheikens and his wife Fannie, signed a quit-claim deed to their home and real property located at 141 Jefferson Avenue, consisting of Lots 14 and 15, Block 2, Cropseys, addition to Ogden City, Utah, to their daughter and son-in-law, Barbara O. and Arthur C. Sheron as joint tenants. (Exhibit D-1).

Plaintiffs allege that the quit-claim deed was to secure payment on \$1,028.00 loaned by the Sherons to the Opheikens loan to pay delinquent property taxes on the Opheiken's home. Record at 252. The Defendants contend that at the time the quit-claim deed was signed, the Opheikens intended to transfer ownership of their home to the Sherons permanently rather than have the home lost through foreclosure. Record at 372.

The following brief history of the home and who contributed to its construction is helpful in presenting a background of the circumstances leading to this action. The Opheiken's home was built on land they purchased in 1932 for \$500.00. Record at 231. In the early 1950's the Opheikens borrowed \$2,150.00 from Mr. and Mrs. William Holt to finance the construction of a new home on their land. Record at 233. The \$2,150.00 was not sufficient to complete the construction so the Opheikens borrowed \$4,500.00 from Froerer Realty to complete the house. Record at 239. In addition to the \$4,500.00, Mrs. Opheikens testified that she borrowed another \$700.00 from Froerer for their kitchen cabinets. Record at 239.

Arthur Sheron testified that he loaned the Opheikens \$700.00 in approximately 1957, and that he borrowed the Money from Beneficial Finance to loan to the Opheikens. Mr. Sheron stated that he did not know what the Opheikens intended to do with the \$700.00. Record at 364. Upon cross-examination, Mrs. Opheikens testified that the \$700.00 that Mr. Sheron borrowed from Beneficial Finance was used to purchase a 1955 Chevrolet, and



that the Opheikens never borrowed \$700.00 from the Sherons. Record at 280.

At trial the Defendants testified that they have made substantial contributions to the construction of the Opheiken's home, in addition to the \$1,028.00 which they gave to the Opheikens to pay the back taxes in 1967.

Fannie Opheikens testified at trial that her daughter, Defendant Barbara Sheron, gave the Plaintiffs \$600.00 to help build the house. Fannie stated that of the \$600.00 that Barbara contributed, \$200.00 was used to dig the foundation for the house, and \$400.00 was used to purchase lumber. Record at 234. Fannie testified that Barbara did not contribute any more than \$600.00 toward the construction of the home. Id.

Barbara Sheron testified that she contributed all of the \$1,900.00 insurance settlement which she received from the death of her first husband. Record at 316. However, the only evidence of any contribution made by Barbara Sheron to the initial construction of the house was a check for approximately \$400.00 to Hurst Lumber. Record at 336, and Exhibit P-14.

During the construction of the home, the Defendant, Barbara Sheron, was one of three children living with the Opheikens after being recently widowed when Jack Griven, her husband of a short time, died in an automobile accident. Barbara received an insurance settlement of \$1900.00 from her husband's death in addition to \$10,000.00 which she received from his life insurance policy. For ten years, Barbara received a monthly check of

\$92.90 from her husband's life insurance policy, and \$19.00 per month as Social Security benefits. While living with her parents, Barbara gave her parents \$100.00 per month from her income.

After living with her parents for approximately one year, Barbara married Arthur Sheron. Barbara and her second husband Arthur Sheron lived with the Opheikens for approximately three months prior to moving into their own home on Second Street in Ogden. Mrs. Opheikens testified at trial that Barbara and Arthur Sheron used the insurance money to make the payments on their house on Second Street. Record at 238.

At the time the quit-claim deed was signed in 1967, the Opheikens had been making mortgage payments on their home since approximately 1950. Mrs. Opheikens testified at trial that at the time the quit-claim deed was signed, the Opheikens had no intention of transferring their interest in the property to the Sherons. Record at 260. After the quit-claim deed was signed, the Opheikens continued to make each and every payment on the mortgage, taxes, utilities, insurance and any other assessments until the final payment of \$286.34 was made on June 31, 1977. Record at 243.

The Opheikens testified that since the quit-claim deed was signed they have made repeated offers to repay the \$1,028.00 to the Sherons. However, according to the testimony of Mrs. Opheikens, the Sheron's have refused to accept any money and have refused to return the quit-claim deed. Record at 244-45, 251-

52, 253.

Until approximately 1984, the Opheikens were unaware that the Sherons claimed to own their property. In about 1984, according to the testimony of Mrs. Opheikens, she realized that the Sherons were not going to willingly return the quit-claim deed. Record at 251, 253, 309-10. When the Opheikens learned that the Sherons intended to keep their home, they brought this action.

At trial, the Sherons claimed to be the owners of the property in fee simple pursuant to the quit-claim deed, and that the Opheikens relinquished all right to ownership of their home. The Sherons' contend that they have allowed the Opheikens to live in the home as a gesture of kindness, even though the Opheikens have paid all taxes, mortgage payments, insurance, utilities, property assessments, and have maintained the property. Record at 372.

The Sheron's claimed, in addition to the money loaned for back taxes and the money used during the construction of the home, that they have done yard work, snow removal, lawn care, and other odd jobs on the Opheikens property, for which they should be reimbursed. The Opheikens contended that the Sherons were not entitled to be reimbursed for their help around the house because the help was offered gratuitously at the time. The trial court concurred. Record at 472. At no time have the Sherons paid the Opheikens any consideration approximating a reasonable purchase price for the property.

This action was brought by the Opheikens against the Sherons for breaching a fiduciary relationship. At trial, the Opheikens asked the court to impose a constructive trust thereby returning the property to the Opheikens. In its decision, the trial court imposed a constructive trust. The trial court also ruled that Barbara and Arthur Sheron had contributed a total of \$3628.00 which included; (1) the \$1028.00 used to pay the delinquent taxes, (2) \$1,900.00 allegedly given to the Opheikens by Barbara Sheron while she was living with her parents during the construction of the home, and, (3) \$700.00 given to the Opheikens by Arthur Sheron. Record at 472.

The trial court went on to hold that the \$3628.00 was sufficient to purchase a remainder interest in the property on behalf of the Sherons with a life estate for the Opheikens.

Plaintiffs brought this appeal on the grounds that; (1) the trial court improperly awarded a remainder interest to the Defendants where the Defendants did not request a remainder interest be applied in their pleadings, and (2) that Defendants failed to present sufficient evidence as to the amount of money contributed toward the property which was used as a basis for awarding the remainder interest, and, (3) that there was not sufficient evidence presented as to the value of the house to establish whether the contribution of the Defendants was sufficient to purchase a remainder interest in the property.

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Plaintiffs argue that the trial court abused its discretion by imposing a remainder interest on the property which was returned to the Plaintiffs through a constructive trust. By imposing a remainder interest the court effectively nullified any effect the constructive trust had on the parties transaction. Plaintiffs further contend that because the Defendants did not request in their pleadings that they be awarded a remainder interest in the property, that the court acted outside the scope of its authority by granting such relief. Finally, Plaintiffs argue that insufficient evidence was presented by the Defendants to justify the trial court's award of a \$3,628.00 interest in the property.

### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT'S AWARD OF A REMAINDER INTEREST IN THE PROPERTY TO THE DEFENDANTS IS INCONSISTENT WITH THE IMPOSITION OF A CONSTRUCTIVE TRUST FOR THE BENEFIT OF THE PLAINTIFFS.

A constructive trust is defined by Blacks Law Dictionary, as follows:

The constructive trust is a trust raised by construction of law, or arising by operation of law, as distinguished from an express trust. Where the circumstances of a transaction are such that the person who takes a legal estate in property cannot also enjoy the beneficial interest without necessarily violating some established principal of equity, the court will immediately raise a constructive trust, and

fasten it upon the conscience of the legal owner, so as to convert him into a trustee for the parties who in equity are entitled to the beneficial enjoyment.

Constructive trusts do not arise by agreement or from intention, but by operation of law, and fraud, active or constructive, is their essential element, actual fraud is not necessary, but such a trust will arise whenever circumstances under which property was acquired made it inequitable that it should be retained by him who holds the legal title. Constructive trusts have been said to arise through the application of equitable estoppel, or under the broad doctrine that equity regards and treats as done what in good conscience ought to be done, and such trusts are also known as 'trusts ex maleficio' or 'ex delicto' or 'involuntary trusts' and their forms and varieties are practically without limit being raised by courts of equity whenever it becomes necessary to prevent a failure of justice." Blacks Law Dictionary, 1353 (5th Ed. 1979).

The very definition of the doctrine of a constructive trust reveals the misapplication of the doctrine in the present case, the above definition states that,

Where the circumstances of a transaction are such that the person who takes a legal estate in property cannot also enjoy the beneficial interest without necessarily violating some established principal of equity, the court will immediately raise a constructive trust, and fasten it upon the conscience of the legal owner, so as to convert him into a trustee for the parties who in equity are entitled to the beneficial enjoyment. Id., emphasis added.

The trial court in this case, after holding that a constructive trust was applicable, effectively removed any equitable relief the trust may have had on the transaction by granting the Defendants a remainder interest in the Opheikens property.

Once a constructive trust has been imposed, the legal owner

under the quit-claim deed becomes a "trustee for the parties who in equity are entitled to the beneficial enjoyment." Id. In this case, the Sherons became the trustees for the Opheikens when the trial court determined that the Plaintiffs had met the burden of imposing a constructive trust. When it was determined that the Opheikens owed the Sherons for the money contributed to the construction of the home, and for the money loaned to pay the back taxes, then the Opheikens should have been ordered to repay the Sherons, with a lien in the property as security.

Although the trial court has some amount of discretion in forming an equitable remedy, by imposing a constructive trust, it confined itself to a specific form of relief. The effect of a constructive trust is clear; to return ownership to the grantors. By converting the Sherons from owners to trustees for the benefit of the Opheikens, the court may not in equity then allow the trustee to retain that which he has been entrusted to hold for the other's benefit.

In Professor George Gleason Bogert's Handbook of the Law of Trusts, 303 West Publishing, 5th ed. (1973), the author states that,

If the grantee was in a confidential or fiduciary relation with the grantor at the time of the deed and the oral promise to hold in trust, the grantee is usually made a constructive trustee for the intended beneficiary of the oral trust on account of the wrong involved in the violation of the relationship by repudiation of the promise.

Professor Bogert illustrated the principle above with the following example:

In England and a few American states it is held that after the oral trustee has refused to carry out his trust in reliance on the Statute of Frauds, if he retains the property for himself he will be attempting to enrich himself unjustly and to perpetrate a wrong on the intended beneficiary and that he ought to be charged as a constructive trustee for the intended beneficiary, whether it be the grantor or a third person. Id., at 305, citations omitted.

Professor Bogert further clarifies the effect of the imposition a constructive trust:

The constructive trust would be a mere passive trust, on the basis of which equity would decree a reconveyance of the property to the settlor. It would require a grantee pleading voidability of his oral promise to hold in trust to return the consideration which he received for making such a promise. It would require him to restore the grantor to his former position,.... Id., emphasis added.

Clearly, the imposition of a constructive trust has the effect of a "reconveyance" of the property and to "restore the grantor to his former position."

In the present case the trial court, by granting a remainder interest to the Sherons has not made a clean "reconveyance" or "restore" the Opheikens to their "former position." The Opheikens former position was that of title in fee simple subject to a mortgage. After the trial court's ruling the Opheikens became life tenants with a remainder interest going to the Sherons.

In order to find that a constructive trust is an appropriate remedy, the trial court must find among other things that:

1. The Plaintiffs must have an equitable interest in the property. Parks v. Zions First National Bank, 673 P.2d 590, 600 (Utah 1983).



2. That there will be unjust enrichment if the constructive trust is not imposed Parks v. Zions First National Bank, 673 P.2d 590, 600 (Utah 1983).

To hold on one hand that the Opheikens have an "equitable interest" in the property, and that the element of "unjust enrichment" is present, and then to hold that the Defendants are entitled to a remainder interest in the property is inconsistent with doctrine of constructive trusts.

The trial court found that there was insufficient consideration to purchase the property pursuant to the quit-claim deed, and to do so would unjustly enrich the Defendants. Therefore, the trial court imposed a constructive trust. To hold that unjust enrichment mandates the imposition of a constructive trust, then to allow the Defendants to keep the property would be contradictory.

## POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY AWARDING  
A REMAINDER INTEREST TO THE DEFENDANTS WHERE SUCH  
RELIEF WAS NOT REQUESTED IN THE PLEADINGS.

At no point in the pleadings did the Defendants claim that they held a remainder interest in the property, or that they should be made remaindermen. The trial court, in an effort to compensate the Sherons for the money loaned to the Opheikens, removed any hope the Opheikens may have had of having their home back, even if they paid the Defendants all monies to which they are entitled.

Because the issue of a remainder was never raised in the pleadings by either party, the Plaintiffs were not prepared to argue at trial that there was or was not sufficient money transacted to purchase a remainder interest in the property.

There are numerous cases standing for the proposition that a trial court is not authorized to grant relief on issues neither raised in the pleadings nor tried. See, Cornia v. Cornia, 546 P.2d 890, 893 (Utah 1976); Alley v. Peeso, 290 P. 238, 241-42 (Oregon 1930); See also, Strout v. Burgess, 68 A.2d 241, 12 A.L.R. 939.

Clearly this case has some findings that are at variance with the claims of both parties, and where such is the case, the findings will be carefully scrutinized on review. See, West v. West, 403 P.2d 22, 25 (Utah 1965).

Although the trial court in forming an equitable remedy is allowed considerable discretion, to attach a remainder interest for the benefit of the Defendants, removes the possibility the Plaintiffs may have had to repay the money which they owe to the Defendants and have clear title to their home.

Where the issue of a remainder interest was not raised in the pleadings, or during the trial, both parties were unprepared to put on evidence as to the value of the property for such a purpose.

### POINT III

IN THE EVENT THIS COURT FINDS THAT THE TRIAL COURT ACTED WITHIN ITS DISCRETION IN ALLOWING A REMAINDER INTEREST TO FOLLOW THE IMPOSITION OF A CONSTRUCTIVE TRUST, PLAINTIFFS ALLEGE THAT THE EVIDENCE AS TO THE VALUE OF THE PROPERTY, AND THE CONTRIBUTIONS MADE BY THE DEFENDANTS WAS INSUFFICIENT TO JUSTIFY THE TRIAL COURT'S AWARD OF A REMAINDER INTEREST IN THE PROPERTY.

At trial no evidence was put on by either of the parties as to the approximate value of the property in dispute. For the trial court to find that the \$3,628.00 was sufficient to purchase a remainder interest in the property, which the trial court estimated to be worth \$15,000.00, is without a foundation.

The home is worth much more than \$15,000.00 by today's prices, and was worth more than \$15,000.00 in 1967 as stated by the Defendant Barbara Sheron who believed the house and property were worth approximately sixty to seventy thousand dollars at the time the quit-claim deed was signed in 1967. Record at 359. The trial court stated the following regarding the value of the home:

The Plaintiffs did not present evidence of value. And I know the Plaintiffs have a burden in that regard to prove unjust enrichment. That other houses in the area were selling in the fifties and sixties for very modest amounts. I cannot find that they are comparable sales because I don't have the information. But based upon all the information I have, and finding that the Defendants contributed between three and four thousand dollars at a time when both Defendants, sic Plaintiffs, who were in their late fifties, both 59 years old, both have lived 39 years, my own experience is that people of that age have a life expectancy of twenty years or longer; three or four thousand dollars to buy a remainder interest in property valued at \$15,000.00, the likelihood of realizing it twenty plus years down the road is not unjust. Record at 473.

As the trial court stated in its decision, the Plaintiffs

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