1989

Joseph Opheikens and Fanny Opheikens v. Arthur C. Sheron and Barbara O. Sheron : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

In this case, as in most cases involving constructive or resulting trust, we are called upon to alter a deed or other writing which is regulated in form and is presumed to convey a clear and unambiguous title. When such a deed or document is attacked, the party alleging the variance must prove the claim by clear and convincing evidence....

The burden was upon the appellants to prove by clear and convincing evidence that the deed did not convey Fee Title to the respondents and/or that a constructive trust should be imposed on the property. The respondents admitted during the course of the trial that they had agreed that the appellants would have a life estate in the property. The court therefore concluded that the respondents owned the Fee Title subject only

to a life estate in favor of the appellants. The appellants did not present any testimony that would invalidate the deed or place any restriction on the real property other than that agreed to by the respondents. The appellants do not contend in their Brief that they met the burden of producing clear and convincing evidence which would justify the invalidation of the deed. Instead the appellants attempt to switch the burden to the respondents as indicated in Point III of the appellants' Brief.

The appellants' Brief claims that the appellants were not adequately compensated for the deed which they executed to the respondents. The appellants' Brief relies entirely upon the testimony of the appellants to support this contention. The Supreme Court has held in many cases that it will review the evidence presented in the trial court in the light most favorable to the prevailing party or the respondents. The evidence presented by the respondents as set forth in the Statement of Facts clearly demonstrates that the findings of the judge in favor of the respondents was supported by the evidence.

The home which was quit claim deeded to the respondents was originally built at the suggestion of the respondent Barbara Sheron from \$1,900.00 insurance money that she received from the death of her husband. (R.315) Barbara Sheron worked side by side with her father in constructing the home. (R.316-317) The appellants borrowed \$4,500.00 to finish the home and Barbara Sheron paid the mortgage payment for a period of one year after the home was built although she and her new husband only lived in

the home for three months. (R.239, 318-319) After Barbara Sheron had stopped making the mortgage payments, the appellant Fanny Opheikens, because of her gambling, failed to make the payments on a regular basis thereby resulting in a threatened foreclosure by the mortgage holder. (R.282, Ex. 12) In order to keep the house from being foreclosed, the respondents paid \$700.00 to the mortgage holder so that the mortgage would be reinstated. (R.364) Thereafter, in December of 1968 the mortgage holder again threatened to foreclose on the home because the appellants had not paid property taxes for a period of five years. (R.321-322) The respondents borrowed \$1,028.00 and paid the taxes on the basis that the property would be deeded to them by the appellants. The Quit Claim Deed was drafted by the appellants' attorney. (R.368-369) After the property was deeded to the respondents, the respondents paid the insurance on the home and told the appellants they could continue to live in the home during their lifetime if they would pay the remaining mortgage and keep the taxes current on the home. (R.372-373, 325-326) After the property was deeded to the respondents, they maintained the home and performed other improvements on the property for which they did not ask and did not receive compensation. (R.331-332, 374-375, 447)

Judge Roth found that there was no good evidence before the court as to what the value of the home would have been in 1967 and that the appellants did not present any evidence of value. The only evidence presented was the estimate of the

respondent Arthur Sheron that the home would have been worth \$12,000.00 to \$15,000.00 in 1967. The court also found from the evidence presented by the respondents that other homes in the area during this time period were selling for very modest amounts. (R.472-473) Judge Roth found that the respondents had contributed a total of \$3,628.00 for the construction of the home and to avoid foreclosure on the home and concluded that this was a reasonable price given the fact that the appellants were receiving a life estate in the home. (R.472-473)

In order to prevail on their Complaint, the appellants had to prove by clear and convincing evidence that the deed was not valid or that it was being held in trust for them by the respondents. The appellants did not present any evidence to the effect that the property was being held in trust for them by the respondents. The appellant Joseph Opheikens was asked whether or not he had ever informed the respondents that he thought they were holding the ownership of the home in trust for him. His answer was no, that no discussion was ever had concerning the matter. (R.229) The appellants did not present any evidence that would justify their claim that the deed was invalid or that the respondents had been unjustly enriched.

POINT II

THE APPELLANTS HAVE MISUNDERSTOOD AND/OR

MISCONSTRUED THE RULING OF THE TRIAL COURT

The appellants have appealed on the basis that the

trial court committed error in awarding the respondents a remainder interest in the property which they claim was not requested in the respondents' pleadings. There seems to be no other basis for the appeal. The appellants obviously have misconstrued the ruling of Judge Roth. Judge Roth found that the Fee Title to the land was transferred by Quit Claim Deed from the appellants to the respondents, but that the respondents had agreed to give the appellants a life estate in the property. Judge Roth stated in his decision from the bench that the respondents ended up with a remainder interest in the property. However, he did not award the respondents a remainder interest as alleged by the appellants. In fact the respondents, by agreeing to a life estate, retained a reversion interest. A remainder interest can only be created in favor of a stranger to the deed and therefore cannot apply to the respondents. Moynihah, Corneluis J., INTRODUCTION TO THE LAW OF REAL PROPERTY, p.111 (West Publishing Company, 1962) While Judge Roth made reference to a remainder, he ruled that the respondents owned the fee to the real property subject only to a life estate in the appellants which legally created a reversion interest. While the distinction between the two interests are subtle, it is clear that the judge did not impose a constructive trust against the appellants which resulted in the respondents having a remainder interest.

The appellants incorrect assumption that the court imposed a constructive trust upon the respondents runs throughout

the appellants' Brief. Consequently, the arguments contained in the Brief are not relevant. This is demonstrated by Point II of the appellants' Brief wherein they contend that the respondents were granted relief which they did not request in their pleadings. The respondents at all times maintained that they were the fee owners of the property. Had the appellants understood the court's ruling, there would be no reason for the argument contained in Point II of the Brief. In Point I of the appellants' Brief, they argue that the imposition of a constructive trust in favor of the respondents has the effect of reconveying the real property or restoring the real property to the former owners or the appellants. The appellants then argue that the court did not reconvey the property to the appellants and therefore committed error in creating a constructive trust for the respondents. This argument makes no sense in light of the fact that the court held that the respondents were the fee owners of the property and that a constructive trust was imposed against the respondents in favor of the appellants in the form of a life estate.

POINT III

THE RELIEF SOUGHT BY THE APPELLANTS ON APPEAL

SHOULD NOT BE GRANTED.

It is hard to tell from the appellants' Brief what relief they are asking of this court. The only part of the

appellants' Brief that addresses that issue is the conclusion. Apparently the appellants are not asking for a new trial, but are asking the court to reverse the trial court's decision and rule that the appellants own the Fee Title to the real property and that the only right the respondents have is to be paid back the moneys they have invested in the home.

The Court of Appeals in an equity case does have the right to enter an order based upon the evidence given in the lower court. The Supreme Court has held that in the review of an equity case, the trial court's findings of fact and ruling should not be disturbed unless the evidence clearly preponderates against the lower court ruling. Hock v. Fennemore, supra. The Supreme Court has also stated that considerable deference should be given to the findings of a trial court because of its advantaged position. Baker v. Pattee, supra. There is an additional reason why the court should not substitute its judgment for that of the trial court in this case.

It is the position of the respondents that the court committed error in a couple of instances in its decision in imposing a life estate in favor of the appellants. The respondents elected not to appeal on those issues because they were willing to allow the appellants to have a life estate in the property.

It was the respondents' position that the appellants action was barred by the Statue of Limitations. The deed in this case was executed in 1967. The appellants did not instigate

their action until after 1984, more than 17 years after the date of the deed. The Utah Supreme Court in the case of Baker v. Pattee, supra. held that the statute of limitations in an action for the cancelation of a deed was controlled by U.C.A. § 78-12-25(2) which provides for a four year statute of limitations. The court stated that in case of undue influence and/or duress, the limitation period begins with the termination of the influence or duress.

The appellant Fanny Opheikens testified that she was aware that the respondents did not intend to return the property to her as early as 1968. (R.298-299) The appellants did not claim that there was any undue influence or duress. The appellant Joseph Opheikens did not make any claim of a confidential relationship, undue influence, or duress. He stated that he did not tell the respondents that they were holding the house in trust for him. (R.229) His sole complaint was that he did not remember signing the deed and that the whole matter was a puzzle to him. (R.208, 221) The appellant Fanny Opheikens testified that when the deed was executed in 1967 she did not have a close relationship with her daughter, had an uncomfortable relationship with her son-in-law, and did not have a confidential relationship with either of the respondents. (R.295-296) She also stated that in 1967 she was approximately 60 years of age as was her husband and that both she and her husband were in good health and of clear mind. (R.297-298) Judge Roth found that there was no evidence that the respondents manipulated or put undue pressure

on the appellants. He also found that neither attempted to take advantage of the appellants. (R.470-471)

It seems clear that the statute of limitations on this action began to run at the time the deed was executed, which was 1967, or when the appellants clearly knew that the respondents did not intend to return the property to them which would have been in 1968. Consequently, the appellants' action was barred by the statute of limitations after 1972. The respondents made a motion at the beginning and during the trial to dismiss the actions because of the statute of limitations. The court refused to grant the motion and stated: "...and for the reason I don't think it is a very satisfying way to end this litigation in a family case." (R.313) The respondents did not appeal from the court's failure to dismiss the case because of the statute of limitations because the respondents were willing to abide by the court's decision. However, if the Court of Appeals elects to overturn the court's decision and enter an order without referring the matter for a new trial, the respondents would be denied an opportunity to pursue a remedy which they might have appealed if any decision other than the one by Judge Roth was imposed upon them.

The respondents believe that the court committed an error in ruling that a life estate was created by a constructive trust as opposed to an express trust. The respondents did not appeal from Judge Roth's ruling in this regard because they

agreed that there was an express trust and were willing to be bound by the life estate. At the conclusion of the case presented by the appellants, the respondents made a motion for a dismissal on the basis that the appellants had presented no evidence concerning an express trust. The appellants' attorney Stephen Farr conceded that they were not trying the action on the basis of an express trust, but rather on the theory of a constructive trust. Judge Roth ruled that there was no evidence that had been presented by the appellants that supported the existence of an express trust and granted the respondents' motion to dismiss on that basis. Judge Roth continued the trial solely on the theory of whether or not there was a constructive trust that should be imposed against the respondents. (R.273-276) Had the appellants called the respondents to testify as part of their case, they would have learned that there was an express trust; but since the appellants did not carry their burden, they lost the opportunity to prevail on that theory.

The theory of constructive trust was considered by the Utah Supreme Court in Histsley v. Ryder, 738 P.2d 1024 (Utah 1987). In that case Justice Zimmerman stated the burden of proof is on the party asserting a constructive trust to prove the case by clear and convincing evidence and that the burden of proving a constructive trust cannot be met by simply showing that there was a transaction between close family members. He stated that in order to impose a constructive trust, in addition to the family relationship, there must be shown age and infirmity, actual

dominance, a course of management of the affairs of another, or other facts making it inequitable to deny a constructive trust.

He stated in part:

...Indeed, the court was required to presume that the transaction was in all respects regular, absent evidence to the contrary....

A constructive trust cannot be imposed upon the respondents because there was a family relationship involved in this transaction. There was no evidence showing age or infirmity, actual dominance, a course of management of the affairs of another, or any other fact which would demonstrate that it was inequitable to deny a constructive trust.

After dismissing the appellants' action on an express trust, Judge Roth continued the trial and heard the testimony of the respondents to the effect that they had agreed to give the appellants a life estate. Consequently, Judge Roth found himself in a position where he wanted to impose a life estate on the property, but could not do so because of an express trust. Therefore, he found there was a constructive trust imposing a life estate even though the evidence was not sufficient to justify such a finding. The appellants did not appeal this error on the part of the trial court because they believe the results were equitable. However, if this court were to substitute its order for that of the trial court, a result could occur which was not anticipated by the respondents and the respondents would be denied an opportunity to pursue a remedy which they might have otherwise appealed.

CONCLUSION

The respondents are the owners of the Fee Title to the property in question by reason of a Quit Claim Deed from the appellants. The appellants did not sustain their burden of demonstrating by clear and convincing evidence that the deed given to the respondents was invalid or that the property was being held in trust for the appellants. The trial court did not impose upon the appellants a constructive trust resulting in a remainder interest in the respondents as alleged by the appellants. The court clearly ruled that the respondents owned the Fee Title to the property subject only to a life estate in the appellants. This resulted in the respondents having a reversion interest in the property instead of a remainder interest as alleged by the appellants.

The relief sought by the appellants is not clear. However, it would be manifestly unjust for the Court of Appeals to substitute its ruling for that of the trial court. The respondents believe that the trial court committed an error in failing to dismiss the action as being barred by the statute of limitations and in determining that there was a constructive trust imposed against the respondents for a life estate in favor of the appellants. The respondents' did not appeal these issues because they believe the ultimate result of the court's order was equitable. However, if the appellate court were to substitute its judgment for that of the trial court, the respondents would

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